IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

| JOHN DEMON MORGAN, |)) | No. | 70424 Electronically Filed Mar 08 2017 10:44 a.m. |
|----------------------|----------|-----|---|
| Appellant, |) | | Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court |
| VS. | ;)): | | о |
| THE STATE OF NEVADA, |) | | |
| Respondent. |)) | | |

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

(Appeal from Judgment of Conviction)

PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

STEVEN B. WOLFSON CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711

Attorney for Appellant

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

NRS 177.015 gives Court jurisdiction to review this appeal from a jury verdict. District court sentenced John on 04/14/16 and filed final judgment on 04/19/16. IV:960;Minutes-II:257; I:224-25. John filed his notice of appeal on 05/17/16, within 30 day time limit established by NRAP 4(b). I:226-29.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. COURT ERRED IN DENYING BATSON CHALLENGE WHEN STATE USED PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE IN DISCRIMINATORY MANNER BASED ON SEXUAL ORIENTATION.
- II. FURTHER JURY SELECTION ERRORS MANDATE REVERSAL.
- III. RIGHT OF EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AND DUE PROCESS DENIED WHEN COURT DIRECTED DEFENSE COUNSEL TO APOLOGIZE TO JURY DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT.

IV. VAGUE PLEADINGS ALLOWED STATE TO CHANGE ITS THEORY OF THE CASE IN REBUTTAL CLOSING.

V. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IN CLOSING.

VI. COURT ERRED IN DENYING JOHN'S MOTIONS FOR A MISTRIAL.

VII. EVIDENCE INSUFFICIENT TO CONVICT.

VIII. JOHN'S SUBSTATIVE AND PROCEDURAL RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO CROSS-EXAMINATION WERE VIOLATED WHEN COURT FOUND HIM COMPETENT DURING AN INADEQUATE NRS 178.415 HEARING.

IX. JOHN'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED DUE TO. LENGTHLY DELAY IN TRANSPORTING HIM TO LAKES' CROSSING IN VIOLATION OF COURT'S ORDER AND DUE PROCESS.

X. CUMULATIVE ERROR.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

State charged John by way of Criminal Complaint and Information with: *Count 1*, battery with intent to commit a crime (NRS 200.400) and Count 2, robbery (NRS 200.380), both occurring on 10/30/14 with the same alleged victim, Maria Verduzco, a manager at an AMPM convenience store.²

State filed criminal complaint on 11/03/14 (I:001-2) and Information on 11/25/14 (I:036-38). State amended Information during second day of

After holding a preliminary hearing on 11/18/14, Justice Court bound case to District Court for arraignment on 02/12/15. II:297-305. *Minutes*-229-34. But District Court delayed John's arraignment for more than two months due to competency concerns.³ II:258-305.

On 05/15/15, after a second round of competency evaluations proved John was incompetent, Competency Court ordered him to be taken care of at Lake's Crossing. II:311-13; Min.-I:237. When John remained in Clark County Detention Center with no firm transfer in sight, on 07/07/15, he filed a motion to dismiss. I:061-112. Court denied motion. II:313-25; Min-I:240. John was finally transported on 09/03/15. Min-I:241.

After receiving treatment, John returned to Las Vegas from Lake's Crossing on 12/18/15. II:349-50; Min-I:243.

John filed several other pre-trial motions: (1) Motion for discovery – court granted (I:041-55;146-49; II:360-372:M-I:246-47); (2) Motion for dismissal alternatively bill of particulars – court denied (I:177-79;II:374-80);

trial by reversing counts, making Count 1 robbery and Count 2 battery with intent to commit a crime (I:184-85).

Defense counsel voiced competency concerns and requested a referral when John was not present at his arraignment due to spitting. II:258-60; Min.-I:229. At the 12/01/14 hearing, court ordered a third evaluation. II:261-62; Min.-I:230. On 01/16/15, court set a competency challenge hearing. II:263-64; Min.-I:231. On 02/06/15, after hearing testimony from evaluating doctor, Dr. Slagel, who found John not competent, court reviewed reports from two other doctors who found John competent and decreed John competent. II:265-32; Min-I:232-3.

(3) Motion to compel Counts 1 and 2 as alternative counts—court denied (I:159-65; 180-83;II:374-80); and (4) Motion in Limini to preclude State from introducing overly prejudicial, non-relevant, information — granted with stipulation (I:166-172;173-76;II:374-80).

The three day trial began on 02/23/16.⁴ Jury returned a guilty verdict on the robbery charge and found him guilty of the lessor crime, misdemeanor battery, on other count. I:223.

On 04/14/16, court sentenced John to 26 to 120 months for robbery and 6 for misdemeanor battery, running both concurrent. I:225.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On 10/30/14, Maria Verduzco, manager of AMPM at Mountain Vista and Flamingo in Las Vegas, completed paperwork in her office while her employee Ruby Cruz managed the cash register. III:662-68. Watching the security monitors of the store while in the office, Maria observed a man, later identified as John, take a bag of Frito Lay nuts from a rack and place in his pocket. III:665-68.

⁴ 02/22/16 - <u>DAY 1</u>: Trans. II:384-500;III:501-653; Min-II:251-52. 02/23/16 - <u>DAY 2</u>: Trans. III:654-750;IV:751-96;Min-II:253-54. 02/24/16 - DAY 3: Trans. IV:796-859; Min-II:255-56.

Maria left the office and walked to the cash register where John was making a purchase with Cruz. III:668;685;703. During this time, Maria did not see what was happening at the cash register. III:703-707. Maria, did not know if John paid for any items, did not know what John sought to purchase, and did not know what Ruby Cruz rang up. III:703-707.

Once at the cash register, Maria told John to take the stuff out of his pocket. III:668;685.

According to Maria, John said, "Get the f--- out of my face," and punched her in her chest and she fell to the floor. III:668. When Maria got up, she grabbed a peanut stick, and hit John's backpack, ripping it open. III:668-69. Maria said soup fell out of his backpack. III:670;684. But, she did not see John steal any soup. III:685.

John immediately left the store without completing his purchase at the register and Maria called 911. III:703.

Around the time Maria confronted John, customer Mario Gonzales entered the AMPM. III:738-45. Mario noticed a struggle between a girl and a man. He left after the incident but then saw John three and a half blocks away. III:744. He called the police, advising them of John's location and waited for Officer Law to arrive. III:744;IV:751-52.

Officer Law responded to the 911 call at 7:45 a.m. III:714-16. Mario flagged Law, directing him to John's location. III:720. According to Law, John began running. III:721. When John tripped, Law and Mario fell on top of him. III:722-23. Law claimed a bag of nuts fell out of John's pocket. II:722-23. The alleged bag of peanuts was not documented in the police reports and not impounded as evidence for trial. III:727-28;IV:756-58.

Officer Ibarra interviewed Maria at the AMPM. III:745-58. Maria gave him a piece of paper that she claimed fell out of John's ripped backpack. III:750;IV:751. Ibarra noticed the name John Morgan on the paper and impounded it as evidence. IV:751;753.

D.A. Investigator Edward Dougherty testified that he subpoenaed Ruby Cruz for trial and explained to her the importance of attending court. IV:777-85. She said she would attend. He tried to contact her at her apartment the previous day but no one answered the door.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

John's convictions should be reversed because State used a peremptory challenge in violation of *Batson* by removing a prospective juror based on juror's sexual orientation. John also challenged the jury venire because it lacked sufficient African-American jurors. Numerous other errors tainted the jury panel and infringed on John's right to effective assistance of

counsel: court limited the scope of John's voir dire in some instances, directed him to apologize to the jury in closing, and used an incorrect jury selection procedure that infringed on his right to use peremptory challenges in a meaningful manner. Court must also decide if competency issues involving a 3 month delay by State not transporting John to Lake's Crossing and incorrect competency procedures warrant dismissal. These and other issues support reversal of John's convictions.

ARGUMENT

I. COURT ERRED IN DENYING BATSON CHALLENGE WHEN STATE USED PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE IN DISCRIMINATORY MANNER BASED ON SEXUAL ORIENTATION.

A. Law.

"The discriminatory use of peremptory challenges by the prosecution causes a criminal defendant cognizable injury, and the defendant has a concrete interest in challenging the practice." *Powers v. Ohio*, 111 S. Ct. 1364, 1370–71 (1991). Therefore, a criminal defendant may challenge a prosecutor's use of a peremptory challenge to excuse a juror from his jury by making a *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) challenge alleging an improper motive for juror's removal. *Id*.

A *Batson* challenge arises from the Equal Protection Clause of the United States and Nevada Constitution which prohibit the discriminatory use

of peremptory challenges based on race, ethnicity, or gender. U.S. Const. Amend. VI, Amend. XIV; Nev. Const. Art. 1 Sec. 3; Art. 1 Sec. 8; State v. McClear, 11 Nev. 39 (1876); Batson (race), J.E.B. v. Alabama, 511 U.S. 127 (2014)(gender); Rivera v. Illinois, 556 U.S. 148, 153 (2009)(ethnicity). Discrimination in the process for selecting jurors will result in the reversal of a conviction. Synder v. Louisiana, 522 U.S. 472 (2008) (race); Batson; J.E.B.; Rivera.

Discriminatory use of peremptory challenges is structural error not subject to harmless error analysis. *Diomampo v. State*, 124 Nev. 414, 423 (2008); *Conner v. State*, 327 P.3d 503, 507–11 (Nev. 2014) *reh'g denied* (12/16/14), *cert. denied*, 135 S. Ct. 2351 (2015). On appeal, the *Diomampo* and *Conner* Courts analyzed the entire record, finding several reasons given by the prosecutor were pre-textual and grounds for reversal. *Conner at* 509–511; *Diomampo at* 421-31.

An unbiased jury selection process is important because "[j]ury service preserves the democratic element of the law, as it guards the rights of the parties and ensures continued acceptance of the laws by all people." *Powers at* 407. "The anti-discrimination principle is thus not just a privilege of the criminal defendant; it constrains prosecutors, criminal defense lawyers, and civil litigants alike." *Winston v. Boatwright*, 649 F.3d 618, 622

(7th Cir. 2011). "Intentional discrimination by any participant in the justice system undermines the rule of law and, by so doing, harms the parties, the people called for jury duty, and the public as a whole." *Id*.

This Court and others have yet to specifically hold that the removal of a juror based on sexual orientation falls under the umbrella of *Batson*. But discrimination based on sexual orientation is a form of gender discrimination. Jessica Satinoff, *Coming Out of the Venire: Sexual Orientation Discrimination and the Peremptory Challenge*, 11 FIU L. Rev. 463, 465 (2016); *Libby v. State*, 115 Nev. 45, 50, 975 P.2d 833, 836 (1999)(gender discrimination).

Ninth Circuit held peremptory challenges used to strike a prospective juror based on the juror's sexual orientation are subject to heighten scrutiny under *Batson. SmithKline Beecham Corp. v. Abbott Laboratories*, 740 F.3d 471, 474 (9th Cir. 2014). And in *Slade v. Caesars Entm't Corp.*, 373 P.3d 74, 83 (Nev. 2016), Justice Cherry alluded to such finding in his dissent.

B. Test.

When a party raises a *Batson* challenge during jury selection, trial court uses a three part test to determine if the use of the peremptory challenge violated the constitution. The test is as follows:

(1) the opponent of the peremptory challenge must make out a prima facie case of racial [or gender] discrimination; (2) the

production burden then shifts to the proponent of the challenge to assert a neutral explanation for the challenge, and (3) the trial must then decide whether the opponent of the challenge has proved purposeful discrimination.

Ford v. State, 122 Nev. 398, 403(2006).

The Constitution forbids the striking of even a single prospective juror for a discriminatory purpose. *United States v. Lorenzo*, 995 F.2d 1448, 1453-54 (9th Cir. 1993); *United States v. Vasquez-Lopez*, 22 F.3d 900, 902 (9th Cir. 1994).

1. Step 1: prima facie case of discrimination.

In this case, State used its second peremptory challenge to remove Juror #24, Olsen. III:577;IV:878-882.

John asserted a *Batson* challenge, noting State specifically asked Juror #24 his sexual orientation during voir dire. IV:879-80; III:570-71. Prosecutor asked almost every juror if they were married, single, or divorced. III:488, 487, 490, 492, 495, 499, 501, 504, 508, 511, 512, 514, 550, 562, 571. But for Juror #24, prosecutor asked: "You indicated you're in a relationship...did you say boyfriend, girlfriend or married?" III:505-06. Prior to this question, Juror #24 indicated he had a partner. III:505.

Because court required prosecutor to respond and give reasons for her use of the peremptory challenge, court found John made a prima facie case of discrimination based on sexual orientation. IV:880.

2. Step 2: reasons given and argument.

Prosecutor responded to the *Batson* challenge by arguing:

He's a homosexual, it was out there. I stuck him based on his response to the [indecipherable]. There must be a pattern established before I make up my sexual orientation which [indecipherable]. There's been no pattern. So, would Your Honor like...for me to move on to other next step nonetheless. (emphasis added). IV:880.

Court told prosecutor, "Go ahead."

Prosecutor further argued:

I struck him based on his – that the criticism released in the media is correct. It's been a long time overdue. There's [indecipherable] the prosecuting entity who is presenting the case who would be presenting police officers as witnesses. IV:880.

Without allowing John to respond, Court held: "[I] don't see a pattern and I think that the prosecution had a reason to strike him. In fact, I'm just surprised that you made this *Batson* challenge...denied." IV:880.

But John asked court to allow a response: "When the State makes their race neutral reason we actually have the right to respond and explain why that's – it's pre-textual. Would the Court allow me to...respond?" IV:880.

Court said: "Okay. By the way, we're spending an awful lot of time up here with these bench conferences, okay?" IV:880.

John said:

Mr. Camuso who is in seat number one, badge number 027, is a similarly situated juror. Mr. Camuso specifically said he thinks it's a good thing that light is being shed on these incidents which is very similar to what Mr. Olsen, badge number 024, in seat number 12 said. They did not strike Mr. Camuso but they struck Mr. Olsen after specifically eliciting from him – they asked him – he said "my partner" and they said "boyfriend or girlfriend." And now two jurors, their answers are almost identical in terms of what they think about, an answer to my questions. The individual who is openly homosexual has been struck. Mr. Camuso has not been struck. IV:881.

Court said: "...I didn't realize juror number 1 was homosexual..."

John told the court:

He's not, that's the point. The response that I get to give — when the State gives their neutral reason is if I can point out a similarly situated juror who is not of that class, the class being homosexuals in this case who gave similar responses. That is our response to State's pre-textual reason. So that is my response. IV:881-82.

After Juror #22 was removed, during a break in proceedings, prosecutor added another factor by pointing out Juror #22 was one of two openly homosexual males on the panel. III:579.

3. Step 3: trial court's decision.

There are two reasons trial court's decision was incorrect. First, court prejudged her decision prior to holding the hearing. Second, prosecutor did not remove other jurors who answered similarly to Juror #22.

In Brass v. Nevada, 291 P.3d 145 (Nev. 2012), Court found structural error when court refused to hold a Batson hearing prior to removing the

challenged juror from the venire. The *Brass* Court held: "when a defendant asserts a *Batson* violation, it is a structural error to dismiss the challenged juror prior to conducting the *Batson* hearing because it shows that the district court predetermined the challenge before actually hearing it." *Id.* at 149.

Although court held the hearing prior to removing the challenged juror in this case, court prejudged its decision before hearing argument.

Without allowing John to respond, Court held: "[I] don't see a pattern and I think that the prosecution had a reason to strike him. In fact, I'm just surprised that you made this *Batson* challenge...denied." IV:880. Then after argument court said: "...I don't see it...denied..."IV:881-2. Court conducted no analysis and gave no explanation.

On appeal and in district court, when deciding whether prosecutor's reasons for striking a minority juror are pre-textual or race neutral, Court's analysis requires careful consideration of:

- (1) the similarity of answers to voir dire questions given by veniremembers who were struck by the prosecutor and answers by those veniremembers of another race or ethnicity who remained in the venire, [and]
- (2) the disparate questioning by the prosecutors of struck veniremembers and those veniremembers of another race or ethnicity who remained in the venire,

Conner citing Hawkins v. State, 256 P.3d 965, 967 (Nev. 2011). "An implausible or fantastic justification by the State may, and probably will, be

found to be pretext for intentional discrimination." *Id citing Ford v. State*, 122 Nev. 398, 404(2006); *Miller-El v. Dretke*, 545 U.S. 231, 240-65 (2005); *Kaczmarek v. State*, 120 Nev.314, 334 (2004).

Here, prosecutor's reasoning was implausible.

Juror #24 was the only juror she asked a question suggesting the juror was homosexual. When explaining why she asked him if he had a boyfriend, the first words from her mouth were: "He's a homosexual, it was out there." IV:880. The disparate questioning of Juror #24 and other jurors who remained on the panel suggests a discriminatory purpose.

Prosecutor further argued that before she needed to "make up" a reason, John needed to show a pattern. IV:880. Court disagreed and then prosecutor claimed she removed him based on his comment about problems with police officers in the media: "that the criticism released in the media is correct...[and] long overdue." IV:880.

But, when asked about stories about police officers in the media, Juror #22 actually indicated that he felt it was time for the few police officers who abuse their authority to be charged because they have been allowed to abuse the public for too long. III: 535.

Juror #22 was not the only one with that feeling. Juror #27 said the dialogue on police criticism was important. III:566-67. Yet, prosecutor did not strike Juror #27, Camuso, and he ended up on the jury. I:186a and b.

Therefore, based on the similarity of answers in voir dire to similar questions, prosecutor should have also removed Juror #27 and chose not to – thereby suggesting a discriminatory purpose.

Later Juror #31 expressed concern about the police in the media, saying: "I know that there is bad police officers out there and there good police officers and there's a reason everything happens." III: 588. Prosecutor did not remove Juror #31.

II. FURTHER JURY SELECTION ERRORS MANDATE REVERSAL.

A. Challenge to jury venire.

1. Improper procedures.

At the start of jury selection, John challenged the venire.

Looking at the panel there [are] 45 individuals, only 3 of them are African American. That is not a representative of our community, our community I believe [is] twelve percent African American, 3 out of 45 would be six percent. So... Defense is lodging challenge to the panel and we would ask for a hearing." IV:869.

Court responded, "I think that they were all chose at random, counsel, so I'm denying your request at this time..." IV:869.

Later, court agreed to hear testimony from the jury commissioner upon State's suggestion. III:519-22.

Court held a hearing with Jury Commissioner Maria Witt after completing jury selection, after swearing in the jury, after instructing the jury on preliminary matters, after reading the charges to the jury, and after directing the jury on the law. III:621-53.

The procedures used in this instance for a challenge to the venire are similar to those in *Buchanan v. State*, 335 P.3d 207, 210 (Nev. 2014) where Court found structural error occurred mandating reversal when trial court made a ruling prior to allowing a hearing testimony from the jury commissioner.

"By indicating that she would conduct an evidentiary hearing and consider testimony from the jury commissioner but then deciding the fair-cross-section challenge before doing so, and making that decision based on a record devoid of any factual information regarding the venire selection process, the district court judge predetermined the challenge and created the appearance of improper judicial bias." *Id.* Therefore, this Court may reverse

John's conviction based on the improper procedures used by trial court when facing a challenge to the venire.

2. John was entitled to a new venire.

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