#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JOHN DEMON MORGAN,
Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Apr 07 2017 02:56 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 70424

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

SHARON G. DICKINSON Deputy Public Defender Nevada Bar #003710 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

In addition, Morgan's assertion that his voir dire was improperly restricted because the court did not allow him to ask improper questions is without merit. Specifically, Morgan complains that he could not ask a juror about his failure to testify after the court had already instructed the panel that no adverse inference was to be drawn if Morgan did not testify. Morgan also complains that the court would not permit him to ask questions about a hypothetical verdict. As discussed supra, voir dire is conducted by the district court, and the court is afforded great discretion in doing so. Johnson, 122 Nev. 1354-55, 148 P.3d 774. Morgan does not cite any relevant authority which suggests that the district court is not permitted to stop defense counsel from asking inappropriate questions regarding hypothetical verdicts or which re-hash instructions the court has already given. Because these minor restrictions do not amount to an unreasonable limitation on the scope of the questions Morgan could properly ask, Morgan's complaint fails.

For these reasons, the district court did not abuse its discretion during voir dire. Accordingly, this claim fails.

# II. THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REQUESTING THAT COUNSEL CORRECT A MISSTATEMENT DURING CLOSING.

Morgan's next complaint is that the court requested that his counsel correct a misstatement she made during closing. A court's management of closing arguments is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. See Manley v. State, 115 Nev. 114, 125, 979 P.2d 703, 709-10 (1999). The court is permitted to ensure that counsel does not misstate the law during closing. See Scott v. State, 92 Nev. 552, 556, 554 P.2d 735, 738 (1976). Here, Morgan claims that a witness for the State stated that victim Maria Verduzco was still a manager at the store where the crime occurred at the time of trial. AOB 29-30. However, this witness never stated that Maria was still the manager of the store. See 4 AA 777-85. In fact, Maria was not still the manager. 4 AA 915-16. The court requested that counsel correct the misstatement, or offered to correct the misstatement on its own, 4 AA 917–18. The court did not abuse its discretion in making this request. Moreover, even if there were error, it was harmless because whether Maria was a manager of the store at the time of trial did not bear on the crime committed or make any piece of evidence more or less likely. Therefore, this claim fails.

### III. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE MOTION TO DISMISS.

Morgan argues that the district court abused its discretion in denying his motion to dismiss because the pleadings were impermissibly vague. Morgan

complains that, because of this alleged vagueness, the State was able to change its theory throughout the trial. This claim should be denied.

Fundamentally, a criminal Information or Indictment need only provide a defendant with "reasonable notice" of the nature of the charges against him so that he can prepare a defense. Under Nevada law, the charging document must set forth sufficient facts to inform the defendant of the nature of the crime charged. NRS 173.075(1); Wright v. State, 101 Nev. 269, 271, 701 P.2d 743, 744 (1985). The primary inquiry is not whether the Information could have been more artfully drafted, but whether the defendant was given adequate notice of the crime charged. Sheriff v. Levinson, 95 Nev. 436, 437, 596 P.2d 232, 234 (1979). A pleading need contain no more than is necessary to enable a person of common understanding to know what is intended by the state. See Wright, 101 Nev. 269, 701 P.2d 743; State v. Jones, 96 Nev. 71, 605 P.2d 202 (1980); Brimmage v. State, 93 Nev. 434, 567 P.2d 54 (1977); Siriani v. Sheriff, 93 Nev. 559, 571 P.2d 111 (1977); State v. Wright, 92 Nev. 734, 558 P.2d 1139 (1976); Watkins v. Sheriff, 87 Nev. 233, 484 P. 2d 1086 (1971).

Here, the State specifically alleged certain facts regarding Morgan's actions involving Maria and alleged a specific date when the conduct occurred. Specifically, Morgan was charged in Count 1, Battery with Intent to Commit Robbery as follows: "...the person of another, to wit: MARIA VERDUZCO, with intent to commit

robbery by punching the said MARIA VERDUZCO in the chest and/or neck, knocking her to the ground." And in Count 2, Robbery: "...take personal property, to wit: miscellaneous food items, from the person of MARIA VERDUZCO, or in her presence, by means of force or violence, or fear of injury to, and without the consent and against the will of MARIA VERDUZCO, Defendant using force or fear to obtain or retain possession of the property, to prevent or overcome resistance to the taking of the property, and/or to facilitate escape." 1 AA 1.

Certainly, Morgan was on notice of what conduct caused him to be charged. The pleading was plain, concise, and a definite written statement of the essential facts constituting the charge. The allegations were sufficient to apprise Morgan of the nature of the charge he was expected to defend against. Further, Count 2 specifically stated that Morgan could have used either "force" or "fear" to steal the property in order to be guilty of Robbery. In denying the Motion to Dismiss asserting that the pleading was vague, the district court found the Indictment to be sufficiently clear to put Morgan on notice. 2 AA 379.

Moreover, Morgan claims that the pleading is vague because the State used the same act during closing to fulfill both crimes. AOB 33. However, this is incorrect. During closing, the State reiterated the basis for each of the counts:

MS. CRAGGS: The Defendant doesn't say, you're right, here's the property back. The Defendant doesn't run around Maria to get out of the store. No, the Defendant instead walks over to her, multiple steps, and you can see

that in the surveillance video, and he says, excuse my language, get the fuck out of my face. Now, he's 6'1", 185 pounds. And you saw Maria. She's not that big. She requested he give back the property. He walks up. He advances on her. He threatens her. What is this, ladies and gentlemen? This is fear of force or violence used to retain the stolen property. He is using fear to retain the property that is on his person. This is camera angle number 4 at minute 3:16.

4 AA 824 (emphasis added). Fear of force is sufficient to prove Robbery. Of course, Morgan actually striking Maria is sufficient to prove Battery with Intent to Commit Robbery.<sup>7</sup> The State reiterated this argument in its rebuttal. 4 AA 847.

For these reasons, the pleading was not vague and the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Motion to Dismiss. As such, the district court's order should be affirmed.

## IV. THE STATE DID NOT COMMITT PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IN ITS CLOSING.

Morgan next alleges that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct by stating that the "law applies to everyone and equally everybody should be protected under the law" during closing argument. AOB 35; 4 AA 827. Morgan objected at trial, and the district court sustained the objection. 4 AA 912. The State moved on immediately. 4 AA 827.

\_

However, Morgan was eventually convicted of only simple Battery, and as he stipulated to that and the jury found him guilty of Robbery, the same "act" was not used to convict Morgan in any instance.

When evaluating prosecutorial misconduct, this Court first reviews the conduct to determine whether it was improper and, if so, then decides whether the error was so prejudicial as to warrant reversal. <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 1188, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). "Improper argument is presumed to be injurious. If the case, however, is free from doubt, the appellate court will not reverse. If it is closely contested, the error will be considered prejudicial." <u>Pacheco v. State</u>, 82 Nev. 172, 179, 414 P.2d 100, 103-04 (1966) (internal citations omitted).

First, the prosecutor did not engage in misconduct because the comment was innocuous. The State did not bolster the witness, ask the jury to place themselves in the victim's shoes, or berate them into convicting Morgan. Second, even assuming arguendo that any prosecutorial misconduct occurred, it does not warrant reversal. This case was not close. The entire incident was captured on surveillance video. 3 AA 676. Indeed, Morgan stipulated that he had committed battery from the outset of the trial. 3 AA 661. As such, the prosecutor's statement did not make it more likely that Morgan was convicted. Therefore, this claim fails.

# V. THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL.

"The decision to deny a motion for a mistrial rests in the sound discretion of the trial court and it will not be disturbed on appeal unless there is a clear showing of abuse." Evans v. Nevada, 112 Nev. 1172, 1200, 926 P.2d 265, 283 (1996) (overruled on other grounds by Nika v. State, 124 Nev. 1272, 198 P.3d 839 (2008)).

Morgan made three requests for a mistrial which were all denied. The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying these motions. First, Morgan moved for a mistrial based on the testimony from Officer Law that he had to chase Morgan before he was able to arrest him with the assistance of a bystander. 3 AA 721–23. Morgan did not object during this testimony, but later requested a mistrial after the jury had been excused for a break. 3 AA 730. In support of this first request, Morgan cites Bellon v. State, 121 Nev. 436 (2005). AOB 36 (citation corrected). However, <u>Bellon</u> is inapposite because the acts Morgan complains of were not prior bad acts; Bellon involved a defendant who made statements to detectives in Louisiana years after he moved there to escape Nevada investigations into the murder of his wife. Bellon, 121 Nev. 440-43. The defendant made a number of threatening statements to police which were later introduced at his murder trial. Id. In contrast, in this case, Officer Law merely testified that Morgan fled from him when he tried to arrest him. 3 AA 721 - 23. Morgan's flight and subsequent arrest occurred the same day he committed the robbery – indeed within just an hour or two. This evidence was relevant and admissible and was not a basis for a mistrial. As such, the court did not abuse its discretion in denying this motion.

Second, Morgan requested a mistrial when the State's investigator testified as to the steps he took to locate a witness who did not appear for trial, despite being summoned. 3 AA 787 – 93. The court denied this request because (1) the District

Attorney had not withheld the witness's address because they had just learned of it the day before; and (2) the investigator's testimony was not improper in itself. 3 AA 791 – 92. Morgan does not (and did not below) attempt to show, or cite any authority, that this is not so. As such, the court did not abuse its discretion in denying this motion.

Third, Morgan's final mistrial request related to his counsel's misstatement during closing. For the reasons discussed in Section II, <u>supra</u>, this request fails and the district court did not abuse its discretion denying this request for a mistrial.

For these reasons, the motions for mistrial were without merit and the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motions. As such, this claim fails.

#### VI. THE EVIDENCE WAS NOT INSUFFICIENT.

This Court will find the evidence sufficient if, in the light most favorable to the prosecution, "any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Oriegel-Candido v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 378, 381 (1998). Here, the entire incident was captured on surveillance video. 3 AA 676. Moreover, Morgan stipulated to battery even from the outset of the case. 3 AA 661. Despite this, Morgan claims that there was no evidence that he left the store with any merchandise belonging to the victim or the store and, therefore, the evidence was insufficient. AOB 39.

To the extent that Morgan now claims that he was prejudiced because he may have called Ruby Cruz at trial to testify about what he "placed on the counter for purchase," this claim is belied by the fact that Morgan refused to answer the lower court's question about whether he intended to call Cruz as a witness multiple times, inferring that Morgan never intended to call Cruz. 4 AA 902 – 04. Morgan's claim is also belied by the record; Officer Law testified that Morgan had a packet of nuts when he was arrested, Maria testified that she saw Morgan take nuts from the store, and the video showed Morgan secret the nuts away on his person. 3 AA 723. As such, a jury could reasonably conclude that the nuts Morgan had on his person when he was arrested came from the store. Additionally, jurors watched the video and saw Morgan take the nuts, threaten and batter Maria, and then flee the store. Therefore, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find Morgan guilty and this claim fails.

### VII. THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING MORGAN COMPETENT.

Morgan next complaints that the court erred in finding him competent during his first competency hearing. In Nevada, defendants have a "right not to be tried while incompetent." Scarbo v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 125 Nev. 118, 121, 206 P.3d 975, 977 (2009). Nevada has enacted procedural laws to enforce this right under NRS 178.400 et seq. An incompetent person "does not have the present ability to: (a) Understand the nature of the criminal charges against the person; (b)

Understand the nature and purpose of the court proceedings; or (c) Aid and assist the person's counsel in the defense at any time during the proceedings with a reasonable degree of rational understanding." NRS 178.400.

If questions of competency arise, the court must hold a hearing and "the court shall appoint two psychiatrists, two psychologists, or one psychiatrist and one psychologist, to examine the defendant." NRS 178.415(1). During the competency examination, defense counsel may meet with the court-appointed competency examiners and discuss the defendant's ability to assist them up to that time. <u>Calvin v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 1178, 1182-83, 147 P.3d 1097, 1100 (2006). The court receives the reports generated by the examiners at the hearing. NRS 178.415(2). The court must permit each side to examine the competency examiners. NRS 178.415(3). However, the competency examiners are not required to attend the hearing unless summoned. Scarbo, 125 Nev. 123 n.5, 206 P.3d 978.

A court's determination of competency is a question of fact entitled to deference on review. <u>Calvin</u>, 122 Nev. 1182-83, 147 P.3d 1100. "Such a determination will not be overturned if it is supported by substantial evidence." <u>Id.</u> Additionally, NRS 178.400 <u>et seq</u> has been explicitly held to conform with federal competency standards and, thus, are constitutional under both state and federal law. Id. Following the hearing, the court determines whether the defendant is competent

or not. NRS 178.420. If the defendant is found incompetent, the court shall order psychiatric treatment consistent with NRS 178.425.

Here, Morgan's first competency hearing stemmed from his removal from the courtroom for spitting. 2 AA 259. The court ordered two evaluators to determine Morgan's competency and held a hearing on December 26, 2014. 2 AA 261-62. Because the evaluators were split as to Morgan's competency, the court ordered a third evaluation. <u>Id.</u> On January 16, 2015, the third evaluator found Morgan competent. 2 AA 264. Morgan challenged that decision. <u>Id.</u>

The challenge hearing was held on February 6, 2015. 2 AA 267–32. Morgan only wanted to call the one evaluator who found him incompetent. <u>Id.</u> The State agreed to proceed, and the court received the reports as required. <u>Id.</u> Morgan and the State both questioned the witness. <u>Id.</u> At the end of the hearing, the court found that, because two doctors found Morgan competent and only Morgan's decision not to plead not guilty seemed to indicate that he did not understand the proceedings, Morgan was competent. 2 AA 296. Morgan never objected to the State not calling the other medical examiners, and indeed those medical examiners were not required to attend unless summoned. <u>Scarbo</u>, 125 Nev. 123 n.5, 206 P.3d 978. A failure to object at the hearing is a failure to preserve the issue of appeal and, thus, Morgan is entitled only to a plain error review. <u>Calvin</u>, 122 Nev. 1184, 147 P.3d 1101.

Morgan also argues that the competency procedures are inadequate in Nevada.<sup>8</sup> AOB 44-45. This Court has held that this is not so. <u>Calvin</u>, 122 Nev. 1182-83, 147 P.3d 1100. Morgan may wish to change the statutory competency

\_

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